

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Free Radical Biology & Medicine 40 (2006) 3-12



Serial Review: The Role of Oxidative Stress in Diabetes mellitus Serial Review Editor: Phyllis A. Dennery

# Exercise training and the antioxidant $\alpha$ -lipoic acid in the treatment of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes<sup> $\approx$ </sup>

Erik J. Henriksen\*

Department of Physiology, Muscle Metabolism Laboratory, University of Arizona College of Medicine, P.O. Box 210093, Tucson, AZ 85721-0093, USA

Received 4 February 2005; revised 29 March 2005; accepted 6 April 2005 Available online 27 April 2005

#### Abstract

One hallmark of the insulin-resistant state of prediabetes and overt type 2 diabetes is an impaired ability of insulin to activate glucose transport in skeletal muscle, due to defects in IRS-1-dependent signaling. An emerging body of evidence indicates that one potential factor in the multifactorial etiology of skeletal muscle insulin resistance is oxidative stress, an imbalance between the cellular exposure to an oxidant stress and the cellular antioxidant defenses. Exposure of skeletal muscle to an oxidant stress leads to impaired insulin signaling and subsequently to reduced glucose transport activity. Numerous studies have demonstrated that treatment of insulin-resistant animals and type 2 diabetic humans with antioxidants, including  $\alpha$ -lipoic acid (ALA), is associated with improvements in skeletal muscle glucose transport activity and whole-body glucose tolerance. An additional intervention that is effective in ameliorating the skeletal muscle insulin resistance of prediabetes and type 2 diabetes is endurance exercise training. Recent investigations have demonstrated that the combination of exercise training and antioxidant treatment using ALA in an animal model of obesity-associated insulin resistance provides a unique interactive effect resulting in a greater improvement in insulin action on skeletal muscle glucose transport than either intervention individually. Moreover, this interactive effect of exercise training and ALA is due in part to improvements in IRS-1-dependent insulin signaling. These studies highlight the effectiveness of combining endurance exercise training and antioxidants in beneficially modulating the molecular defects in insulin action observed in insulin resistant skeletal muscle.

© 2005 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Lipoic acid; Skeletal muscle glucose transport; Diabetes; Obese Zucker rats

#### Contents

Introduction	4
Etiology of muscle insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes	4
Regulation of glucose transport activity in skeletal muscle	4
Insulin resistance of muscle glucose disposal.	4
Role of oxidative stress in the etiology of insulin resistance.	5
Interventions for improvement of insulin action in insulin-resistant states	6
Role of endurance exercise training	6

*Abbreviations:* IR, insulin receptor; IRS, IR substrates; PI3-kinase, phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase; PDK, 3-phosphoinositide-dependent kinases; AMP kinase, 5'-adenosine-monophosphate-activated protein kinase; p38 MAPK, p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase; ALA, α-lipoic acid; CLA, conjugated linoleic acid.

<sup>th</sup> This article is part of reviews on "The Role of Oxidative Stress in Diabetes mellitus." The full list of papers may be found on the home page of the journal. \* Fax: +1 520 621 8170.

E-mail address: ejhenrik@u.arizona.edu.

 $<sup>0891\</sup>text{-}5849/\$$  - see front matter 0 2005 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2005.04.002

Role of antioxidant treatment.	7
Interactions between exercise training and antioxidant treatment.	7
Summary and perspectives.	8
Acknowledgments	9
References	9

### Introduction

The long-term maintenance of plasma glucose concentrations under a variety of nutritional conditions and energetic demands is one of the most important and closely regulated processes in mammalian species. Wholebody glucose homeostasis is the product of input from three primary tissues: the liver, skeletal muscle, and  $\beta$ -cells of the pancreas. The liver functions as the primary source of endogenous glucose production in the body under conditions of increased peripheral glucose demand through the breakdown of glycogen stores (glycogenolysis) and the synthesis of new glucose (gluconeogenesis) from a variety of precursor molecules. The liver can also take up glucose from the circulation and store the glucose carbons as glycogen (glycogenesis). However, the most important site of glucose uptake is skeletal muscle, which makes up  $\sim 40\%$  of body mass in mammalian species. It is widely accepted that, following an oral or intravenous glucose load or in response to an acute exercise bout, skeletal muscle is a major site of glucose disposal [1], though evidence to the contrary has been published [2]. The most important hormone responsible for the stimulation of skeletal muscle glucose transport and metabolism is insulin, which is secreted by the pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells in response to appropriate stimuli. In addition, the muscle contractions associated with exercise have a powerful effect on the glucose transport process [3].

Important advances in our understanding of the molecular regulation by insulin and contractions of the glucose transport system in muscle have been made over the past two decades. In addition, it is clear that defects in this molecular regulation of glucose transport by insulin are a primary characteristic of insulin-resistant states, including prediabetes and overt type 2 diabetes [4]. An accumulating body of evidence indicates that one potential factor contributing to the multifactorial etiology of insulin resistance is oxidative stress, and that exercise training and antioxidant therapies can be effective interventions in treating insulin resistance associated with this oxidative stress [5,6]. This review will briefly summarize our current understanding of the molecular defects associated with skeletal muscle insulin resistance, especially in the context of a state of oxidative stress. Moreover, this review will briefly cover current information on how exercise training and antioxidant therapy, both individually and in combination, can improve insulin action in insulin-resistant states.

### Etiology of muscle insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes

#### Regulation of glucose transport activity in skeletal muscle

Glucose transport activity in skeletal muscle is acutely regulated by insulin through the activation of a series of intracellular proteins (for reviews, see Refs. [4,7]). In brief, insulin binding enhances the tyrosine kinase activity of the insulin receptor (IR)  $\beta$ -subunits, and this activated IR then phosphorylates IR substrates (IRS; primarily IRS-1 in skeletal muscle) at conserved pYXXM sequences on tyrosine residues. Tyrosine-phosphorylated IRS-1 can interact with the SH2 domains of the p85 regulatory subunit of phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3-kinase), thereby activating the p110 catalytic subunit of this enzyme. PI3-kinase catalyzes the production of phosphoinositide moieties, which can subsequently activate 3-phosphoinositidedependent kinases (PDK). A downstream target of PDK is Akt, a serine/threonine kinase. An important role of Akt in the insulin-dependent regulation of glucose transport is supported by several studies [8-10], although contradictory findings have been made [11]. Ultimately, the activation of these steps results in the translocation of the glucose transporter protein isoform GLUT-4 to the sarcolemmal membrane, where glucose transport takes place via a facilitative diffusion process.

Muscle contractions can also stimulate glucose transport via insulin-independent mechanisms [12,13] that culminate with activation of GLUT-4 translocation [14,15]. In comparison to the body of knowledge on insulin signaling elements, relatively little is currently understood regarding the intracellular factors involved in the stimulation of GLUT-4 translocation and glucose transport by muscle contractions. Recent evidence supports a role of the activation of 5'adenosine-monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMP kinase), an enzyme stimulated by a decrease in cellular energy charge ([16-18] also see Ref. [19] for a review), although evidence questioning the essential role of AMP kinase in the regulation of glucose transport has been reported [20]. In addition, increases in intracellular calcium play an important role in the acute regulation of glucose transport during contractions [3], possibly by activation of a calciumand calmodulin-dependent protein kinase [18].

### Insulin resistance of muscle glucose disposal

In the context of glucose homeostasis, insulin resistance refers to the reduced ability of insulin to stimulate glucose transport and metabolism in skeletal muscle or fat (another insulin-sensitive tissue) or to decrease glucose production by the liver. Insulin resistance of skeletal muscle glucose transport represents a major defect in the normal maintenance of euglycemia [4] and is often accompanied by a variety of metabolic and cardiovascular abnormalities, including hypertension, obesity, dyslipidemia, type 2 diabetes, and atherosclerosis [21–23]. This clustering of atherogenic risk factors in the same individual has been called "syndrome X" [21,23] or the "insulin resistance syndrome" [22], and the increased cardiovascular mortality associated with this condition has been directly attributed to the insulin resistance and the compensatory hyperinsulinemia [22,24,25].

Insulin resistance of skeletal muscle glucose transport is a key defect leading to the development of glucose intolerance in prediabetes and to the conversion from prediabetes to overt type 2 diabetes. The prediabetic state is a condition characterized by fasting plasma glucose levels between 100 and 125 mg/dl that do not reach the diagnostic criteria ( $\geq 126 \text{ mg/dl}$ ) for diabetes [26], but only at the expense of hyperinsulinemia overcoming the insulin resistance that is already manifest. This insulin-resistant, prediabetic state affects  $\sim 40$  million people in the United States, and these individuals are at great risk for the conversion to overt type 2 diabetes [27,28]. It is estimated that upward of 18 million American currently have overt type 2 diabetes, and the number continues to increase dramatically [26]. Both of these insulin-resistant statesprediabetes and type 2 diabetes-contribute substantially to the excess morbidity and mortality in this country.

The obese Zucker (fa/fa) rat displays a missense mutation in the leptin receptor gene, leading to hyperphagia and obesity, and has long been used as an animal model of the prediabetic state, as it displays severe skeletal muscle insulin resistance, hyperinsulinemia, glucose intolerance, dyslipidemia, and central adiposity (see Ref. [29]). Skeletal muscle from obese Zucker rats displays significant defects in insulin-stimulated GLUT-4 protein translocation [30,31] and glucose transport activity [31-33] that are associated with impaired protein expression and functionality of critical elements of the insulin signaling cascade. These defects include a reduced protein expression of IRS-1 [34-36] and impaired insulin-stimulated IRS-1 tyrosine phosphorylation and PI3-kinase activation [34,36]. Similar defects in insulin signaling functionality are observed in skeletal muscle from human subjects with prediabetes and overt type 2 diabetes. For example, insulin stimulation of tyrosine phosphorylation of IR and IRS-1 and of the activities of PI3-kinase and Akt are impaired [37-40] and the activation of GLUT-4 protein translocation to the sarcolemma by insulin is reduced [41,42] in insulin-resistant human skeletal muscle.

Increasing evidence indicates that the protein expression and functionality of IR and IRS-1 can be negatively regulated by serine and threonine phosphorylation [43– 50]. Serine phosphorylation of IR is associated with decreased tyrosine phosphorylation of IRS-1 and a subsequently diminished activation of PI3-kinase [43,45], while serine phosphorylation of IRS-1 causes enhanced degradation of this protein in cell lines [47,50]. Recent evidence also supports a role of enhanced serine phosphorylation of IRS-1 in the multifactorial development of insulin resistance (reviewed in Ref. [47]).

# Role of oxidative stress in the etiology of insulin resistance

Oxidative stress-the imbalance between the cellular production of oxidants and the antioxidant defenses within cells-can play an important role in the multifactorial etiology of skeletal muscle insulin resistance (reviewed in Refs. [5,6,51,52]). For example, plasma levels of hydroperoxides, one marker of oxidative stress, are higher in subjects with type 2 diabetic compared to nondiabetic controls and are inversely correlated with the degree of metabolic control [53]. More definitive evidence linking oxidative stress and insulin resistance comes from cell culture and isolated muscle incubation studies. Rudich et al. [54,55] have demonstrated in 3T3-L1 adipocytes and  $L_6$ myocytes that prolonged exposure to a low-grade oxidant stress (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) markedly decreases insulin-stimulated glucose metabolism. This decreased insulin responsiveness is associated with increased GLUT-1 mRNA and protein levels and decreased GLUT-4 mRNA and protein levels [54,56], and with impaired PI3-kinase-dependent insulin signaling [55,57]. Moreover, Blair et al. [58] showed that exposure of L6 myocytes to a low level of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> activates the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (p38 MAPK). Thus, these findings are consistent with the hypothesis that oxidative stress can directly and negatively impact insulin action on glucose transport, perhaps through a p38 MAPKdependent mechanisms.

As noted above, serine phosphorylation of IRS-1 leads to increased degradation and decreased functionality of this protein [47,49]. A critical recent observation is that exposure of hepatoma cells to an oxidant stress ( $H_2O_2$ ) induces increases in phosphorylation at Ser<sup>307</sup> and Ser<sup>632</sup> of IRS-1 [59], and that this oxidant exposure is associated with degradation of the IRS-1 protein [50].

We have also recently addressed the direct effect of oxidant stress on the regulation of insulin action in isolated rat skeletal muscle (V. Saengsirisuwan, J.S. Kim, J.A. Sloniger, and E.J. Henriksen, unpublished data). Isolated soleus muscles from insulin-sensitive lean Zucker rats exposed acutely to a low-grade oxidant stress (70–90  $\mu$ M H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) display 30–50% decreases in the ability of insulin to stimulate glucose transport and glycogen synthase, the rate-limiting enzyme for glycogen synthesis. Moreover, this oxidant stress impairs insulin action on tyrosine phosphory-lation of IR and IRS-1, activation of PI3-kinase, and serine

phosphorylation of Akt and glycogen synthase kinase-3, a target of Akt action. The oxidant stress also caused activation of p38 MAPK, a serine/threonine kinase thought to be associated with impaired insulin signaling in skeletal muscle [60,61]. Collectively, these results indicate that oxidative stress can directly and negatively impact insulin signaling and glucose transport in intact rat skeletal muscle, consistent with previous findings in muscle and nonmuscle cell lines.

It is well documented that chronic hyperglycemia, a hallmark of the diabetic state, is associated with enhanced formation of reactive oxygen species, advanced glycation end-products, and lipid peroxidation products, and is also frequently accompanied by decreased antioxidant defenses (reviewed in Refs. [51,52]). The glucotoxicity induced by 5-24 h of hyperglycemia causes insulin resistance of skeletal muscle glucose transport and metabolism [62]. While the mechanisms underlying this glucose-induced insulin-resistant state are not clearly defined and are certainly multifactorial, one mechanism may involve an increase in muscle oxidative stress. Short-term hyperglycemia (6 h at 15 mM glucose) in nondiabetic rats causes a marked skeletal muscle insulin resistance and an increase in muscle protein carbonyls, a marker of oxidative stress, both of which are prevented by co-infusion of the antioxidant Nacetylcysteine [63].

As noted above, the obese Zucker rat is a well-accepted rodent model of obesity-associated insulin resistance and has specific defects in the insulin signaling cascade in skeletal muscle. In addition, the obese Zucker rat displays characteristics of oxidative stress in muscle and liver [36,64]. Muscle of the obese Zucker rat contains elevated triglyceride levels [36] and the animal has marked dyslipidemia, making it highly susceptible to enhanced lipid peroxidation [64]. Moreover, a direct consequence of these metabolic abnormalities is the increased levels of protein carbonyls in skeletal muscle, cardiac muscle, and liver [64], reflecting a chronic state of oxidative stress in these tissues [65]. These elevated protein carbonyl levels in skeletal muscle of the obese Zucker rat are highly correlated with impairment of insulin action on glucose transport activity [64].

# Interventions for improvement of insulin action in insulin-resistant states

Because of the critical role of skeletal muscle insulin resistance in the context of the "insulin resistance syndrome" and in the development of type 2 diabetes, interventions that can enhance insulin action in skeletal muscle are important components of treatment strategies in these insulin-resistant states. Effective nonpharmacological interventions include exercise training, especially endurance activities involving running, biking, or swimming, and specific dietary modifications leading to a reduction of visceral fat stores. In addition, a variety of pharmaceutical and nutriceutical interventions, including antioxidants, exist which target specific systemic and molecular defects associated with insulin resistance. Because the development of an insulin-resistant state is commonly due to a number of different defects, it is unlikely that a single type of intervention will be sufficient to fully correct the insulin resistance, and increasing attention is being giving to combination therapies in the treatment of these insulinresistant states. The effectiveness of exercise training and antioxidant therapy, individually and in combination, in overcoming skeletal muscle insulin resistance will be discussed below.

### Role of endurance exercise training

Endurance exercise training leads to improvements in glucose tolerance and insulin action on skeletal muscle glucose metabolism in insulin-resistant subjects with impaired glucose tolerance or type 2 diabetes [66,67] or in animal models of insulin resistance [29]. In type 2 diabetic humans, one potential mechanism for this training-induced enhancement of insulin action is an upregulation of skeletal muscle GLUT-4 protein expression [67]. While exercise training of animals with normal insulin sensitivity leads to enhanced insulin signaling, including IR and IRS-1 tyrosine phosphorylation and IRS-1-associated PI3-kinase activity [68], it is currently unclear whether exercise training also ameliorates the insulin signaling defects that characterize insulin-resistant skeletal muscle.

Studies using the insulin-resistant obese Zucker rat have provided insight into the potential molecular mechanisms associated with improvements in whole-body and skeletal muscle insulin action caused by endurance exercise training (reviewed in Ref. [29]). Moderate- to high-intensity exercise training increases glucose tolerance and glucose disposal in the obese Zucker rat, primarily due to adaptations in the glucose transport activity [36,64,69-71] and translocation of GLUT-4 protein [72,73]. Our research group has recently demonstrated favorable metabolic adaptations in skeletal muscle of the insulin-resistant obese Zucker rat in response to treadmill training, including significant enhancements of insulin-stimulated glucose transport, GLUT-4 protein expression, and activities of enzymes involved in glucose metabolism [36,64]. Moreover, we and others have shown that endurance exercise training by these prediabetic rodents induces upregulation of the protein expression of important proximal elements of the insulin signaling pathway, including IR, IRS-1, and PI3-kinase [35,36]. However, there is also evidence in the literature indicating that these traininginduced improvements in insulin action in the obese Zucker rat can be elicited without concomitant alterations in these insulin signaling factors [74].

A recent investigation has addressed the effect of exercise training on skeletal muscle insulin signaling in insulin-resistant human subjects with type 2 diabetes [75].

After 8 weeks of aerobic exercise training, insulin action on whole-body glucose disposal was increased in the insulin-resistant subjects. However, the exercise training did not improve insulin action on IRS-1-associated PI3kinase activity, and only Akt protein expression was increased in muscle of the exercise-trained type 2 diabetic subjects [75].

# Role of antioxidant treatment

There are numerous pharmaceutical and nutriceutical interventions that improve insulin resistance of skeletal muscle glucose transport, including thiazolidinedione, sulfonylureas, and biguanides [7], and specific antihypertensive agents, such as angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin II receptor antagonists [76]. One class of nutriceutical compounds that has received considerable attention in the context of diabetes and diabetic complications is antioxidants [5,6,77].  $\alpha$ -Lipoic acid (ALA) is a water-soluble antioxidant [78] that has important effects in the treatment of insulin resistance [5,6]. The positive metabolic actions of this antioxidant have been demonstrated in a variety of experimental models. Evidence from cell culture studies, primarily using 3T3-L1 adipocytes and L6 myocytes, indicates that ALA can protect cells from the deleterious effects of oxidant stress [50,57,79,80] (reviewed in Ref. [52]). ALA can directly modulate glucose metabolism in both insulin-sensitive [81-83] and insulin-resistant [84-86] muscle tissues, with the R-(+)-enantiomer (R-ALA) displaying a greater effect than the S-enantiomer [82,86]. Interestingly, short-term exposure of L6 myocytes to ALA causes a transient increase in p38 MAPK phosphorylation [87], a finding we have confirmed in isolated rat skeletal muscle (V. Saengsirisuwan and E.J. Henriksen, unpublished data).

Furthermore, we have demonstrated that chronic in vivo treatment with ALA elicits improvements in whole-body glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity, as well as in insulin action on skeletal muscle glucose transport, in insulinresistant obese Zucker rats [36,64,84,86]. Chronic administration of ALA to rats made hypertensive and insulin resistant as a result of high glucose feeding results in reductions in systolic blood pressure, an increase in wholebody insulin sensitivity, and a reduction in markers of oxidative stress [88]. It has also been demonstrated recently that chronic administration of ALA to diabetes-prone Otsuka Long-Evans Tokushima Fatty (OLETF) rats prevents the age-dependent development of hyperglycemia, hyperinsulinemia, dyslipidemia, and plasma markers of oxidative stress [89].

The precise cellular mechanisms responsible for the stimulatory effect of ALA on insulin action remain unclear. Initial studies using insulin-sensitive adipocyte and muscle cell lines indicated that in vitro ALA exposure acutely activates critical elements of the insulin signaling pathways, including tyrosine phosphorylation of IR and IRS-1, activation of PI3-kinase, and serine phosphorylation of Akt [87,90]. The increased insulin action following ALA treatment of obese rats is associated with a reduction of hyperinsulinemia and dyslipidemia [39,67,90,93] and with enhancements of IRS-1 protein expression and insulinstimulated IRS-1 associated with the p85 subunit of PI3-kinase, a surrogate measure of PI3-kinase activation [36]. Moreover, this antioxidant treatment is effective in ameliorating the oxidative stress of the obese Zucker rat, as chronic ALA treatment decreases muscle and liver protein carbonyl levels [64]. Chronic ALA treatment also reduces muscle triglyceride levels in both obese Zucker rats [36] and OLETF rats [89].

Studies involving ALA treatment of human type 2 diabetic subjects are less available. However, whole-body insulin sensitivity of glucose disposal in insulin-resistant type 2 diabetic subjects is improved by  $\sim$ 30% after a singe intravenous infusion of ALA [91] or following chronic intravenous or oral administration of this antioxidant [92,93].

Other nutriceutical compounds may elicit their effects as a result of their antioxidant properties. Conjugated linoleic acid (CLA), a dienoic derivative of linoleic acid with strong antioxidant characteristics [94], has been used as an intervention against cancer and heart disease [95] and diminishes visceral fat in obese Zucker rats [96] and adult humans [97]. In the context of insulin resistance, treatment with the trans10, cis12 isomer of CLA has been shown to enhance glucose tolerance and insulin-stimulated skeletal muscle glucose transport activity and reduce fasting plasma glucose, insulin, and free fatty acids in prediabetic obese Zucker rats [96,98] and type 2 diabetic Zucker diabetic fatty (ZDF) rats [99,100]. In the obese Zucker rat, these CLA-induced metabolic improvements were associated with reductions in skeletal muscle protein carbonyl and lipid levels [96]. Interestingly, we have shown a significant interaction between CLA and R-ALA for enhancement of insulin action on skeletal muscle glucose transport in the obese Zucker rat, at least in part due to reductions in oxidative stress and lipid storage in skeletal muscle [98].

# Interactions between exercise training and antioxidant treatment

We have recently demonstrated in insulin-resistant obese Zucker rats that the combination of treatment with the antioxidant R-ALA and endurance exercise training is associated with greater improvements in insulin action on skeletal muscle glucose transport than either intervention individually [36,64]. As noted above, we have shown in the obese Zucker rat [36,64] that individual treatments with R-ALA and endurance exercise training elicit significant reductions in muscle and liver levels of protein carbonyls, a marker of tissue oxidative stress [65], and in intramuscular triglycerides, which is inversely related to insulin action [101–103]. However, we observed no further decrease in muscle protein carbonyls and triglycerides when the antioxidant treatment and exercise training were combined [36,64]. Furthermore, while muscle GLUT-4 protein expression in the obese Zucker rat is upregulated by exercise training, no further enhancement of this adaptive response is caused by the addition of R-ALA treatment [36,64]. Therefore, it is unlikely that these factors are responsible for the metabolic interactions between exercise training and antioxidant intervention.

However, recent results from our group indicate that the interactive effect of antioxidant treatment and exercise training to improve insulin action on skeletal muscle glucose transport activity in the insulin-resistant obese Zucker rat may be related to alterations in specific elements of the insulin signaling pathway. We observed an essentially additive upregulation of the protein expression of IRS-1 and the association of tyrosine-phosphorylated IRS-1 with the p85 subunit of PI3-kinase in skeletal muscle of obese Zucker rats that received chronic R-ALA treatment during the endurance exercise training period [36].

# Summary and perspectives

The interaction between exercise training and antioxidant treatment with R-ALA on the glucose transport system in insulin-resistant skeletal of the obese Zucker rat [36,64] is summarized schematically in Fig. 1. In this figure, the number of down arrows reflects the magnitude of defects in



Fig. 1. Summary of the interactions between endurance exercise training and the antioxidant R-(+)-lipoic acid on insulin signaling and glucose transport activity in insulin-resistant skeletal muscle of the obese Zucker rat. In this figure, the down arrows indicate the relative degree of insulin resistance, with the number of down arrows reflecting the magnitude of the defects in these insulin-regulatable processes in muscle of obese Zucker rats compared to the insulin-sensitive lean Zucker rats. IR, insulin receptor; IRS-1, insulin receptor substrate 1; PI3K, phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase.

these insulin-regulatable processes in muscle of obese Zucker rats compared to lean Zucker rats. Relative to skeletal muscle from the insulin-sensitive lean Zucker rat, this insulin-resistant obese skeletal muscle is characterized by defects in the protein expression and functionality of critical elements of the insulin signaling pathway, including IR, IRS-1, PI3-kinase. Despite a normal protein expression of GLUT-4, there is a diminished GLUT-4 protein translocation and glucose transport activity in response to insulin. This muscle from the obese Zucker rat also displays elevated intramuscular lipids and evidence of oxidative stress, such as increased protein carbonyls (Fig. 1A). Exercise training by itself induces an increase in insulin action on glucose transport associated with increased IRS-1 functionality, due to both increased IR tyrosine phosphorylation and IRS-1 biosynthesis, and causes GLUT-4 biosynthesis. This exercise training intervention also decreases muscle lipids and reduces tissue oxidative stress (Fig. 1B), and the cumulative effect is that there is less insulin resistance in the exercise-trained obese Zucker rat compared to the sedentary obese Zucker rat. Likewise, R-ALA treatment individually brings about an enhancement of insulin-stimulated glucose transport in muscle by increasing IRS-1 biosynthesis and functionality, but is not associated with an increase in GLUT-4 biosynthesis. In addition, this R-ALA treatment reduces the elevated levels of muscle lipids and protein carbonyls to approximately the same extent as exercise training (Fig. 1C). There is still insulin resistance, but to a lesser degree, after exercise training or R-ALA treatment individually.

The interaction between exercise training and R-ALA on the glucose transport system likely results from an additive effect of the two interventions on IRS-1 biosynthesis and functionality, leading to the greatest effect of insulin to stimulate PI3-kinase. Activation of IR, IRS-1, and PI3kinase is essentially normalized by the combination therapy. The downstream signals originating from activated PI3kinase would subsequently cause a greater amount of GLUT-4 from the increased GLUT-4 pool (induced by the exercise training) to translocate and fuse into the sarclemmal membrane, thereby facilitating the greatest enhancement of glucose transport activity in these muscles. However, insulin-stimulated glucose transport activity, while greatly enhanced relative to the untreated obese muscle, is still not normalized, possibly because intramuscular triglycerides and protein carbonyls remain somewhat elevated relative to lean muscle (Fig. 1D).

This compelling concept of interactive metabolic effects of exercise training and R-ALA in the treatment of insulin resistance clearly requires further experimental testing to evaluate its validity. Moreover, it would be important to determine if other antioxidants, such as vitamin E, glutathione, and *N*-acetylcysteine, might also display these beneficial interactions with exercise training in the treatment of skeletal muscle insulin resistance. Most importantly, it will ultimately be critical to evaluate, in well-designed clinical trials, whether these interesting findings in an animal model of obesity-associated insulin resistance can be reproduced in human subjects with prediabetes or type 2 diabetes.

## Acknowledgments

The work of the author cited in this article was supported in part by grants from the Pacific Mountain Affiliate of the American Heart Association and Viatris GmbH, Frankfurt, Germany.

### References

- DeFronzo, R. A.; Ferrannini, E.; Hendler, R.; Felig, P.; Wahren, J. Regulation of splanchnic and peripheral glucose uptake by insulin and hyperglycemia in man. *Diabetes* 32:32–45; 1983.
- [2] Kelley, D.; Mitrakou, A.; Marsh, H.; Schwenk, F.; Benn, J.; Sonnenberg, G.; Arcangeli, M.; Aoki, T.; Sorensen, J.; Berger, M.; et al. J. Clin. Invest. 81:1563–1571; 1988.
- [3] Holloszy, J. O.; Hansen, P. A. Regulation of glucose transport into skeletal muscle. *Rev. Physiol. Biochem. Pharmacol.* 128:99–193; 1996.
- [4] Zierath, J. R.; Krook, A.; Wallberg-Henriksson, H. Insulin action and insulin resistance in human skeletal muscle. *Diabetologia* 43:821–835; 2000.
- [5] Henriksen, E. J. Oxidative stress and antioxidant treatment: effects on muscle glucose transport in animal models of type 1 and type 2 diabetes. In: Packer, L.; Rösen, P.; Tritschler, H. J.; King, G. L.; Azzi, A. (Eds.), *Antioxidants in diabetes management*. Dekker, New York, pp. 303–318; 2000.
- [6] Henriksen, E. J. Therapeutic effects of lipoic acid on hyperglycemia and insulin resistance. In: Cadenas, E.; Packer, L. (Eds.), *Handbook* of antioxidants. Dekker, New York, pp. 535–548; 2001.
- [7] Shepherd, P. R.; Kahn, B. B. Glucose transporters and insulin action. Implications for insulin resistance and diabetes mellitus. *N. Eng. J. Med.* 341:248–257; 1999.
- [8] Kohn, A. D.; Summers, S. A.; Birnbaum, M. J.; Roth, R. A. Expression of a constitutively active Akt Ser/Thr kinase in 3T3-L1 adipocytes stimulated glucose uptake and glucose transporter 4 translocation. J. Biol. Chem. 271:31372–31378; 1996.
- [9] Hajduch, E.; Alessi, D. R.; Hemmings, B. A.; Hundal, H. S. Constitutive activation of protein kinase Bα by membrane targeting promotes glucose and system A amino acid transport, protein synthesis, and inactivation of glycogen synthase kinase 3 in L6 muscle cells. *Diabetes* 47:1006–1013; 1998.
- [10] Ueki, K.; Yamamoto-Honda, R.; Kaburagi, Y.; Yamauchi, T.; Tobe, K.; Burgering, B. M. T.; Coffer, P. J.; Komuro, I.; Akanuma, Y.; Yazaki, Y.; Kadowaki, T. Potential role of protein kinase B in insulin-induced glucose transport, glycogen synthesis, and protein synthesis. J. Biol. Chem. 273:5315–5322; 1998.
- [11] Kitamura, T.; Ogawa, W.; Sakaue, H.; Hino, Y.; Kuroda, S.; Takata, M.; Matsumoto, M.; Maeda, T.; Konishi, H.; Kikkawa, U.; Kasuga, M. Requirement for activation of the serine-threonine kinase Akt (protein kinase B) in insulin stimulation of protein synthesis but not of glucose transport. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 18:3708–3717; 1998.
- [12] Holloszy, J. O.; Narahara, H. T. Studies of tissue permeability. X. Changes in permeability to 3-methylglucose associated with contraction of frog muscle. J. Biol. Chem. 240:3493–3500; 1965.
- [13] Nesher, R.; Karl, I. E.; Kipnis, D. M. Dissociation of effects of insulin and contraction on glucose transport in rat epitrochlearis muscle. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 249:C226–C232; 1985.

- [14] Goodyear, L. J.; Hirshman, M. F.; Horton, E. S. Exercise-induced translocation of skeletal muscle glucose transporters. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 261:E795–E799; 1991.
- [15] Gao, J.; Ren, J.; Gulve, E. A.; Holloszy, J. O. Additive effect of contractions and insulin on GLUT-4 translocation into the sarcolemma. J. Appl. Physiol. 77:1587–1601; 1994.
- [16] Kurth-Kraczek, E. J.; Hirshman, M. F.; Goodyear, L. J.; Winder, W. W. 5' AMP-activated protein kinase activation causes GLUT4 translocation in skeletal muscle. *Diabetes* 48:1667–1671; 1999.
- [17] Mu, J.; Brozinick, J. T. Jr.; Valladares, O.; Bucan, M.; Birnbaum, M. J. A role for AMP-activated protein kinase in contraction- and hypoxia-regulated glucose transport in skeletal muscle. *Mol. Cell.* 7:1085–1094; 2001.
- [18] Wright, D. C.; Hucker, K. A.; Holloszy, J. O.; Han, D. H. Ca<sup>2+</sup> and AMPK both mediate stimulation of glucose transport by muscle contractions. *Diabetes* 53:330–335; 2004.
- [19] Winder, W. W. Energy-sensing and signaling by AMP-activated protein kinase in skeletal muscle. J. Appl. Physiol. 91:1017–1028; 2001.
- [20] Derave, W.; Ai, H.; Ihlemann, J.; Witters, L. A.; Kristiansen, S.; Richter, E. A.; Ploug, T. Dissociation of AMP-activated protein kinase activation and glucose transport in contracting slow-twitch muscle. *Diabetes* 49:1281–1287; 2000.
- [21] Reaven, G. M. Role of insulin resistance in human disease. *Diabetes* 37:1595-1607; 1988.
- [22] DeFronzo, R. A.; Ferrannini, E. Insulin Resistance. A multifaceted syndrome responsible for NIDDM, obesity, hypertension, dyslipidemia, and atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. *Diabetes Care* 14:173–194; 1991.
- [23] Reaven, G. M. Role of insulin resistance in human disease (Syndrome X): An expanded definition. *Annu. Rev. Med.* 44: 121-131; 1993.
- [24] Reaven, G. M. The fourth Musketeer-from Alexandre Dumas to Claude Bernard. *Diabetologia* 38:3–13; 1995.
- [25] King, G. L. The role of hyperglycaemia and hyperinsulinaemia in causing vascular dysfunction in diabetes. *Ann. Med.* 28:427–432; 1996.
- [26] American Diabetes Association. Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Care* 27:S5–10; 2004.
- [27] Warram, J. H.; Martin, B. C.; Krolewski, A. S.; Soeldner, J. S.; Kahn, C. R. Slow glucose removal rate and hyperinsulinemia precede the development of type II diabetes in the offspring of diabetic parents. *Ann. Intern. Med.* **113**:909–915; 1990.
- [28] Ferrannini, E. Insulin resistance versus insulin deficiency in noninsulin-dependent diabetes mellitus: problems and prospects. *Endocr. Rev.* 19:477–490; 1998.
- [29] Henriksen, E. J. Invited review: Effects of acute exercise and exercise training on insulin resistance. J. Appl. Physiol. 93:788-796; 2002.
- [30] King, P. A.; Betts, J. J.; Horton, E. D.; Horton, E. S. Exercise, unlike insulin, promotes glucose transporter translocation in obese Zucker rat muscle. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 265:R447–R452; 1993.
- [31] Etgen, G. J.; Wilson, C. M.; Jensen, J.; Cushman, S. W.; Ivy, J. L. Glucose transport and cell surface GLUT-4 protein in skeletal muscle of the obese Zucker rat. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 271:E294–E301; 1996.
- [32] Crettaz, M.; Prentki, M.; Zaninetti, D.; Jeanrenaud, B. Insulin resistance in soleus muscle from obese Zucker rats: involvement of several defective sites. *Biochem. J.* 186:525–534; 1980.
- [33] Henriksen, E. J.; Jacob, S. Effects of captopril on glucose transport activity in skeletal muscle of obese Zucker rats. *Metabolism* 44:267–272; 1995.
- [34] Anai, M.; Funaki, M.; Ogihara, T.; Terasaki, J.; Inukai, K.; Katagiri, H.; Fukushima, Y.; Yazaki, Y.; Kikuchi, M.; Oka, Y.; Asano, T. Altered expression levels and impaired steps in pathways to

phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase activation via insulin receptor substrates 1 and 2 in Zucker fatty rats. *Diabetes* **47:**13–23; 1998.

- [35] Hevener, A. L.; Reichart, D.; Olefsky, J. Exercise and thiazolidinedione therapy normalize insulin action in the obese Zucker fatty rat. *Diabetes* 49:2154–2159; 2000.
- [36] Saengsirisuwan, V.; Perez, F. R.; Sloniger, J. A.; Maier, T.; Henriksen, E. J. Interactions of exercise training and R-(+)alpha-lipoic acid on insulin signaling in skeletal muscle of obese Zucker rats. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 287:E529–E536; 2004.
- [37] Goodyear, L. J.; Giorgino, F.; Sherman, L. A.; Carey, J.; Smith, R. J.; Dohm, G. L. Insulin receptor phosphorylation, insulin receptor substrate-1 phosphorylation, and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activity are decreased in intact skeletal muscle strips from obese subjects. J. Clin. Invest. 95:2195–2204; 1995.
- [38] Björnholm, M.; Kawano, Y.; Lehtihet, M.; Zierath, J. R. Insulin receptor substrate-1 phosphorylation and phosphatidylinositol-3kinase activity in skeletal muscle from NIDDM subjects after in vivo insulin stimulation. *Diabetes* 46:524–527; 1997.
- [39] Krook, A.; Roth, R. A.; Jiang, X. J.; Zierath, J. R.; Wallberg-Henriksson, H. Insulin-stimulated Akt kinase activity is reduced in skeletal muscle from NIDDM subjects. *Diabetes* 47:1281–1286; 1998.
- [40] Krook, A.; Björnholm, M.; Galuska, D.; Jiang, X. J.; Fahlman, R.; Myers, M. G.; Wallberg-Henriksson, H.; Zierath, J. R. Characterization of signal transduction and glucose transport in skeletal muscle from type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes* 49:284–292; 2000.
- [41] Zierath, J. R.; He, L.; Guma, A.; Odegaard-Wahlstrom, E.; Klip, A.; Wallberg-Henriksson, H. Insulin action on glucose transport and plasma membrane GLUT4 content in skeletal muscle from patients with NIDDM. *Diabetologia* 39:1180–1189; 1996.
- [42] Ryder, J. W.; Yang, J.; Galuska, D.; Rincon, J.; Björnholm, M.; Krook, A.; Lund, S.; Pedersen, O.; Wallberg-Henriksson, H.; Zierath, J. R.; Holman, G. D. Use of a novel impermeable biotinylated photolabeling reagent to assess insulin- and hypoxiastimulated cell surface GLUT4 content in skeletal muscle from type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes* 49:647–654; 2000.
- [43] Strack, V.; Stoyanov, B.; Bossenmaier, B.; Mosthaf, L.; Kellerer, M.; Häring, H.-U. Impact of mutations at different serine residues on the tyrosine kinase activity of the insulin receptor. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 239:235–239; 1997.
- [44] Aguirre, V.; Uchida, T.; Yenush, L.; Davis, R. J.; White, M. F. The c-Jun NH<sub>2</sub>-terminal kinase promotes insulin resistance during association with insulin receptor substrate-1 and phosphorylation of Ser<sup>307</sup>. J. Biol. Chem. 275:9047–9054; 2000.
- [45] Bossenmaier, B.; Strack, V.; Stoyanov, B.; Krutzfeldt, J.; Beck, A.; Lehmann, R.; Kellerer, M.; Klein, H.; Ullrich, A.; Lammers, R.; Häring, H. U. Serine residues 1177/78/82 of the insulin receptor are required for substrate phosphorylation but not autophosphorylation. *Diabetes* 49:889–895; 2000.
- [46] Shulman, G. I. Cellular mechanisms of insulin resistance. J. Clin. Invest. 106:171–176; 2000.
- [47] Pederson, T. M.; Kramer, D. L.; Rondinone, C. M. Serine/threonine phosphorylation of IRS-1 triggers its degradation: possible regulation by tyrosine phosphorylation. *Diabetes* 50:24–31; 2001.
- [48] Aguirre, V.; Werner, E. D.; Giraud, J.; Lee, Y. H.; Shoelson, S. E.; White, M. F. Phosphorylation of Ser<sup>307</sup> in insulin receptor substrate-1 blocks interactions with the insulin receptor and inhibits insulin action. J. Biol. Chem. 277:1531–1537; 2002.
- [49] Yu, C.; Chen, Y.; Cline, G. W.; Zhang, D.; Zong, H.; Wang, Y.; Bergeron, R.; Kim, J. K.; Cushman, S. W.; Cooney, G. J.; Atcheson, B.; White, M. F.; Kraegen, E. W.; Shulman, G. I. Mechanism by which fatty acids inhibit insulin activation of insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1)-associated phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activity in muscle. J. Biol. Chem. 277:50230-50236; 2002.

- [50] Potashnik, R.; Bloch-Damti, A.; Bashan, N.; Rudich, A. IRS1 degradation and increased serine phosphorylation cannot predict the degree of metabolic insulin resistance induced by oxidative stress. *Diabetologia* 46:639–648; 2003.
- [51] Evans, J. L.; Goldfine, I. D.; Maddux, B. A.; Grodsky, G. M. Oxidative stress and stress-activated signaling pathways: a unifying hypothesis of type 2 diabetes. *Endocr. Rev.* 23:599–622; 2002.
- [52] Evans, J. L.; Goldfine, I. D.; Maddux, B. A.; Grodsky, G. M. Are oxidative stress-activated signaling pathways mediators of insulin resistance and β-cell dysfunction?. *Diabetes* 52:1–8; 2003.
- [53] Nourooz-Zadeh, J.; Rahimi, A.; Tajaddini-Sarmadi, J.; Tritschler, H.; Rösen, P.; Halliwell, B.; Betteridge, D. J. Relationships between plasma measures of oxidative stress and metabolic control in NIDDM. *Diabetologia* **40**:647–653; 1997.
- [54] Rudich, A.; Kozlovsky, N.; Potashnik, R.; Bashan, N. Oxidant stress reduces insulin responsiveness in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 272:E935–E940; 1997.
- [55] Rudich, A.; Tirosh, A.; Potashnik, R.; Hemi, R.; Kanety, H.; Bashan, N. Prolonged oxidative stress impairs insulininduced GLUT4 translocation in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Diabetes* 47:1562-1569; 1998.
- [56] Kozlovsky, N.; Rudich, A.; Potashnik, R.; Ebina, Y.; Murakami, T.; Bashan, N. Transcriptional activation of the Glut1 gene in response to oxidative stress in L6 myotubes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 272: 33367–33372; 1997.
- [57] Maddux, B. A.; See, W.; Lawrence, J. C. Jr.; Goldfine, A. L.; Goldfine, I. D.; Evans, J. L. Protection against oxidative stressinduced insulin resistance in rat L6 muscle cells by micromolar concentrations of α-lipoic acid. *Diabetes* **50**:404–410; 2001.
- [58] Blair, A. S.; Hajduch, E.; Litherland, G. J.; Hundal, H. S. Regulation of glucose transport and glycogen synthesis in L6 muscle cells during oxidative stress. Evidence for cross-talk between the insulin and SAPK2/p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathways. J. Biol. Chem. 274:36293-36299; 1999.
- [59] Bloch-Damti, A.; Potashnik, R.; Tanti, J. F.; Le Marchand-Brustel, Y.; Rudich, A.; Bashan, N. IRS-1 protein degradation induced by oxidative stress is associated with distinct time-course of phosphorylation on serine 307 and serine 632. *Diabetologia* 46 (Suppl. 2):A209; 2003.
- [60] O'Keefe, M. P.; Perez, F. R.; Kinnick, T. R.; Tischler, M. E.; Henriksen, E. J. Development of whole-body and skeletal muscle insulin resistance after one day of hindlimb suspension. *Metabolism* 53:1215–1222; 2004.
- [61] O'Keefe, M. P.; Perez, F. R.; Sloniger, J. A.; Tischler, M. E.; Henriksen, E. J. Enhanced insulin action on glucose transport and insulin signaling in 7-day unweighted rat soleus muscle. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 97:63–71; 2004.
- [62] Hansen, B. F.; Hansen, S. A.; Ploug, T.; Bak, J. F.; Richter, E. A. Effect of glucose and insulin on development of impaired insulin action in muscle. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 262: E440–E446; 1992.
- [63] Haber, C. A.; Lam, T. K.; Yu, Z.; Gupta, N.; Goh, T.; Bogdanovic, E.; Giacca, A.; Fantus, I. G. N-acetylcysteine and taurine prevent hyperglycemia-induced insulin resistance in vivo: possible role of oxidative stress. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 285:E744–E753; 2003.
- [64] Saengsirisuwan, V.; Kinnick, T. R.; Schmit, M. B.; Henriksen, E. J. Interactions of exercise training and alpha-lipoic acid on glucose transport in obese Zucker rat. J. Appl. Physiol. 91:145–153; 2001.
- [65] Reznick, A. Z.; Packer, L. Oxidative damage to proteins: spectrophotometric method for carbonyl assay. *Methods Enzymol.* 233:357–363; 1994.
- [66] Rogers, M. A.; Yamamoto, C.; King, D. S.; Hagberg, J. M.; Ehsani, A. A.; Holloszy, J. O. Improvements in glucose tolerance after 1

week of exercise in patients with mild NIDDM. *Diabetes Care* **11**: 613–618; 1988.

- [67] Hughes, V. A.; Fiatarone, M. A.; Fielding, R. A.; Kahn, B. B.; Ferrara, M.; Shepherd, P.; Fisher, E. C.; Wolfe, R. R.; Elahi, D.; Evans, W. J. Exercise increases muscle GLUT4 levels and insulin action in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **264:**E855–E862; 1993.
- [68] Chibalin, A. V.; Yu, M.; Ryder, W.; Song, X. M.; Galuska, D.; Krook, A.; Wallberg-Henriksson, H.; Zierath, J. R. Exerciseinduced changes in expression and activity of proteins involved in insulin signal transduction in skeletal muscle: differential effects on insulin receptor substrates 1 and 2. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 97:38–43; 2000.
- [69] Ivy, J. L.; Brozinick, J.; Torgan, C. E.; Kastello, G. M. Skeletal muscle glucose transport in obese Zucker rats after exercise training. J. Appl. Physiol. 66:2635–2641; 1989.
- [70] Cortez, M. Y.; Torgan, C. E.; Brozinick, J. T.; Ivy, J. L. Insulin resistance of obese Zucker rats exercise trained at two different intensities. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 261:E613–E619; 1991.
- [71] Steen, M. S.; Foianini, K. R.; Youngblood, E. B.; Kinnick, T. R.; Jacob, S.; Henriksen, E. J. Interactions of exercise training and ACE inhibition on insulin action in obese Zucker rats. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 86:2044–2051; 1999.
- [72] Brozinick, J. T.; Etgen, G. J.; Yaspelkis, B. B.; Kang, H. Y.; Ivy, J. L. Effects of exercise training on muscle GLUT-4 protein content and translocation in obese Zucker rats. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 265:E419–E427; 1993.
- [73] Etgen, G. J.; Jensen, J.; Wilson, C. M.; Hunt, D. G.; Cushman, S. W.; Ivy, J. L. Exercise training reverses insulin resistance in muscle by enhanced recruitment of GLUT-4 to the cell surface. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 272:E864–E869; 1997.
- [74] Christ, C. Y.; Hunt, D.; Hancock, J.; Garcia-Macedo, R.; Mandarino, L. J.; Ivy, J. L. Exercise training improves muscle insulin resistance but not insulin receptor signaling in obese Zucker rats. J. Appl. Physiol. 92:736–744; 2002.
- [75] Christ-Roberts, C. Y.; Pratipanawatr, T.; Pratipanawatr, W.; Berria, R.; Belfort, R.; Kashyap, S.; Mandarino, L. J. Exercise training increases glycogen synthase activity and GLUT4 expression but not insulin signaling in overweight nondiabetic and type 2 diabetic subjects. *Metabolism* 53:1233–1242; 2004.
- [76] Henriksen, E. J.; Jacob, S. Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors and modulation of insulin resistance. *Diabetes Obesity Metab.* 5:214–222; 2003.
- [77] Packer, L.; Kraemer, K.; Rimbach, G. Molecular aspects of lipoic acid in the prevention of diabetes complications. *Nutrition* 17: 888–895; 2001.
- [78] Packer, L.; Witt, E. H.; Tritschler, H. J. alpha-Lipoic acid as a biological antioxidant. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 19:227–250; 1995.
- [79] Rudich, A.; Tirosh, A.; Potashnik, R.; Khamaisi, M.; Bashan, N. Lipoic acid protects against oxidative stress induced impairment in insulin stimulation of protein kinase B and glucose transport in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Diabetologia* 42:949–957; 1999.
- [80] Khanna, S.; Roy, S.; Packer, L.; Sen, C. K. Cytokine-induced glucose uptake in skeletal muscle: redox regulation and the role of alpha-lipoic acid. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 276:R1327–R1333; 1999.
- [81] Haugaard, N.; Haugaard, E. S. Stimulation of glucose utilization by thioctic acid in rat diaphragm incubated in vitro. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 222:583–586; 1970.
- [82] Estrada, D. E.; Ewart, H. S.; Tsakiridis, T.; Volchuk, A.; Ramlal, T.; Tritschler, H.; Klip, A. Stimulation of glucose uptake by the natural coenzyme alpha-lipoic acid/thioctic acid: participation of elements of the insulin signaling pathway. *Diabetes* 45:1798-1804; 1996.
- [83] Henriksen, E. J.; Jacob, S.; Streeper, R. S.; Fogt, D. L.; Hokama, J. Y.; Tritschler, H. J. Stimulation by α-lipoic acid of glucose transport

activity in skeletal muscle of lean and obese Zucker rats. *Life Sci.* **61**:805–812; 1997.

- [84] Jacob, S.; Streeper, R. S.; Fogt, D. L.; Hokama, J. Y.; Tritschler, H. J.; Dietze, G. J.; Henriksen, E. J. The antioxidant α-lipoic acid enhances insulin stimulated glucose metabolism in insulin-resistant rat skeletal muscle. *Diabetes* 45:1024–1029; 1996.
- [85] Khamaisi, M.; Potashnik, R.; Tirosh, A.; Demshchak, E.; Rudich, A.; Tritschler, H.; Wessel, K.; Bashan, N. Lipoic acid reduces glycemia and increases muscle GLUT4 content in streptozotocindiabetic rats. *Metabolism* 46:763–768; 1997.
- [86] Streeper, R. S.; Henriksen, E. J.; Jacob, S.; Hokama, J. Y.; Fogt, D. L.; Tritschler, H. J.; Dietze, G. J. Differential effects of stereoisomers of alpha-lipoic acid on glucose metabolism in insulin-resistant rat skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 273:E185–E191; 1997.
- [87] Konrad, D.; Somwar, R.; Sweeney, G.; Yaworsky, K.; Hayashi, M.; Ramlal, T.; Klip, A. The antihyperglycemic drug alpha-lipoic acid stimulates glucose uptake via both GLUT4 translocation and GLUT4 activation: potential role of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase in GLUT4 activation. *Diabetes* 50:1464–1471; 2001.
- [88] El Midaoui, A.; de Champlain, J. Prevention of hypertension, insulin resistance, and oxidative stress by alpha-lipoic acid. *Hyper*tension 39:303–307; 2002.
- [89] Song, K.-H.; Lee, W. J.; Koh, J.-M.; Kim, H. S.; Youn, J.-Y.; Park, H.-S.; Koh, E. H.; Kim, M. S.; Youn, J. H.; Lee, K.-U.; Park, J.-Y. α-Lipoic acid prevents diabetes mellitus in diabetes-prone obese rats. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **326**:197–202; 2004.
- [90] Yaworsky, K.; Somwar, R.; Ramlal, T.; Tritschler, H. J.; Klip, A. Engagement of the insulin-sensitive pathway in the stimulation of glucose transport by alpha-lipoic acid in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Dianbetologia* 43:294–303; 2000.
- [91] Jacob, S.; Henriksen, E. J.; Schiemann, A. L.; Simon, I.; Clancy, D. E.; Tritschler, H. J.; Jung, W. I.; Augustin, H. J.; Dietze, G. J. Enhancement of glucose disposal in patients with Type 2 diabetes by alpha-lipoic acid. *Drug Res.* 45:872–874; 1995.
- [92] Jacob, S.; Henriksen, E. J.; Tritschler, H. J.; Augustin, H. J.; Dietze, G. J. Improvement of insulin-stimulated glucose disposal in type 2 diabetes after repeated parenteral administration of thioctic acid. *Exp. Clin. Endocrinol. Diabetes* **104**:284–288; 1996.
- [93] Jacob, S.; Ruus, P.; Hermann, R.; Tritschler, H. J.; Maerker, E.; Renn, W.; Augustin, H. J.; Dietze, G. J.; Rett, K. Oral administration of rac-α-lipoic acid modulates insulin sensitivity in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus-a placebo controlled pilot trial. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 27:309–314; 1999.

- [94] Leung, Y. H.; Liu, R. H. Trans-10, cis-12-conjugated linoleic acid isomer exhibits stronger oxyradical scavenging capacity than cis-9, trans-11-conjugated linoleic acid isomer. J. Agric. Food Chem. 48:5469-5475; 2000.
- [95] Moya-Camarena, S. Y.; Belury, M. A. Species differences in the metabolism and regulation of gene expression by conjugated linoleic acid. *Nutr. Rev.* 57:336–340; 1999.
- [96] Henriksen, E. J.; Teachey, M. K.; Taylor, Z. C.; Jacob, S.; Krämer, K.; Hasselwander, O. Isomer-specific actions of conjugated linoleic acid on muscle glucose transport in the obese Zucker rat. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 285:E98–E105; 2003.
- [97] Blankson, H.; Stakkestad, J. A.; Gagertun, H.; Thom, E.; Wadstein, J.; Gudmundsen, O. Conjugated linoleic acid reduces body fat mass in overweight and obese humans. *J. Nutr.* 130:2943–2948; 2000.
- [98] Teachey, M. K.; Taylor, Z. C.; Maier, T.; Saengsirisuwan, V.; Sloniger, J. A.; Jacob, S.; Klatt, M. J.; Ptock, A.; Krämer, K.; Hasselwander, O.; Henriksen, E. J. Interactions of conjugated linoleic acid and alpha-lipoic acid on insulin action in the obese Zucker rat. *Metabolism* **52**:1167–1174; 2003.
- [99] Houseknecht, K. L.; Vanden Heuvel, J. P.; Moya-Camerena, S. Y.; Portocerrero, C. P.; Peck, L. W.; Nickel, K. P.; Belury, M. A. Dietary conjugated linoleic acid normalizes impaired glucose tolerance in the Zucker diabetic fatty fa/fa rat. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 244:678–682; 1998.
- [100] Ryder, J. W.; Portocerrero, C. P.; Song, X. M.; Cui, L.; Yu, M.; Combatsiaris, T.; Galuska, D.; Bauman, D. E.; Barbano, D. M.; Charron, M. J.; Zierath, J. R.; Houseknecht, K. L. Isomer-specific antidiabetic properties of conjugated linoleic acid. Improved glucose tolerance, skeletal muscle insulin action, and UCP-2 gene expression. *Diabetes* **50**:1149–1157; 2001.
- [101] Oakes, N. D.; Cooney, G. J.; Camilleri, S.; Chisholm, D. J.; Kraegen, E. W. Mechanisms of liver and muscle insulin resistance induced by chronic high-fat feeding. *Diabetes* 46:1768–1774; 1997.
- [102] Pan, D. A.; Lillioja, S.; Kriketos, A. D.; Milner, M. R.; Baur, L. A.; Bogardus, C.; Jenkins, A. B.; Storlien, L. H. Skeletal muscle triglyceride levels are inversely related to insulin action. *Diabetes* 46:983–988; 1997.
- [103] Jacob, S.; Machann, J.; Rett, K.; Brechtel, K.; Volk, A.; Renn, W.; Maerker, E.; Matthaei, S.; Schick, F.; Claussen, C. D.; Häring, H. U. Association of increased intramyocellular lipid content with insulin resistance in lean nondiabetic offspring of type 2 diabetic subjects. *Diabetes* 48:1113–1119; 1999.